
 

SC20-825 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

________________________________________ 

BACTES IMAGING SOLUTIONS, INC. N/K/A 

SHARECARE HEALTH DATA SERVICES, LLC, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

PATRICIA WEBBER,  

individually and on behalf of those similarly situated, 

Respondent. 

 

 

PETITIONER’S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION 

 

 

MICHAEL FOX ORR (FBN 14594) 

JOHN W. LEONARD (FBN 122206) 

ORR | COOK 

50 North Laura Street, Suite 1675 

Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

(904) 358-8300 

MOrr@orrcook.com 

JLeonard@orrcook.com 

 

LOUIS M. URSINI, III (FBN 355940) 

ADAMS AND REESE LLP 

101 East Kennedy Boulevard, Suite 4000 

Tampa, Florida  

(813) 402-2880  

Louis.Ursini@arlaw.com 

DANIEL E. NORDBY (FBN 14588) 

BENJAMIN J. GIBSON (FBN 58661) 

AMBER S. NUNNALLY (FBN 109281)          

SHUTTS & BOWEN LLP 

215 South Monroe Street, Suite 804 

Tallahassee, Florida 32301  

(850) 241-1717           

DNordby@shutts.com       

BGibson@shutts.com 

ANunnally@shutts.com    

 

 

 

 

 

Counsel for Petitioner BACTES Imaging Solutions, Inc. 

 

  

Filing # 109083059 E-Filed 06/18/2020 04:31:39 PM
R

E
C

E
IV

E
D

, 0
6/

18
/2

02
0 

04
:3

2:
30

 P
M

, C
le

rk
, S

up
re

m
e 

C
ou

rt



ii 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES ................................................................................... iii 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS .......................................................... 1 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT ........................................................................ 4 

ARGUMENT ............................................................................................................. 5 

I. WEBBER EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH 

OTHER DISTRICT COURT DECISIONS REGARDING THE 

MEANING OF "UNFAIR PRACTICE" IN SECTION 501.204(1), 

FLORIDA STATUTES. ........................................................................ 5 

A. In Webber, the Second District applied an outdated version of the 

definition of "unfair practice," which conflicts with the current 

version of the definition relied on by the First and Third Districts. .5 

B. This Court should exercise its discretionary  jurisdiction and 

resolve the express and direct conflict regarding the definition of 

"unfair practice.". .............................................................................. 8 

CONCLUSION ........................................................................................................10 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE ................................................................................12 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE .......................................................................13 

 

  



iii 

 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

 

CASES 

 

Angelo v. Parker,  

275 So. 3d 752 (Fla. 1st DCA 2019) .............................................................. 8, 10 

Fed. Trade Comm’n v. Terry & Hutchinson Co.,  

405 U.S. 233 (1972) .............................................................................................. 6 

Hill Dermaceuticals, Inc. v. Anthem, Inc.,  

228 F. Supp. 3d 1292 (M.D. Fla. 2017) ................................................................ 8 

PNR, Inc. v. Beacon Prop. Mgmt., Inc.,  

842 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 2003) ................................................................................. 10 

Porsche Cars N. America v. Diamond,  

140 So. 3d 1090 (Fla. 3d DCA 2014) ......................................................... 7, 8, 10 

Rollins, Inc. v. Butland,  

951 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) ..................................................................... 6 

Samuels v. King Motor Co. of Fort Lauderdale,  

782 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) .......................................................... 5, 6, 10 

Spiegel, Inc. v. Fed. Trade Comm’n,  

540 F.2d 293 (7th Cir. 1976) ................................................................................ 6 

Webber v. Bactes Imaging Solutions, Inc.,  

2020 WL 215819 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 15, 2020) ..........................................passim 

STATUTES 

§ 501.202(2), Fla. Stat. ............................................................................................... 5 

§ 501.204(1), Fla. Stat. ......................................................................................passim 

§ 501.204(2), Fla. Stat. ........................................................................................... 5, 7 

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS 

Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. ...................................................................................... 6 



iv 

 

OTHER AUTHORITIES 

FTC Policy Statement on Unfairness (Dec. 17, 1980), appended to 

Int’l Harvester Co., 104 F.T.C. 949 (1984). ......................................................... 7 

Unfair or Deceptive Advertising and Labeling of Cigarettes in 

Relation to the Health Hazards of Smoking, Statement of Basis and 

Purpose, Fed. Reg. 8324 (July 2, 1964). ............................................................... 6 

 



1 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

This case presents the following question of law: What is the proper 

definition of “unfair practice” in the conduct of trade or commerce as that phrase is 

used in section 501.204(1) of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act 

(FDUTPA)?  

In Webber v. Bactes Imaging Solutions, Inc., Nos. 2D18-2964 & 2D18-

4813, 2020 WL 215819 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 15, 2020), the Second District Court of 

Appeal defined an “unfair practice” as “one that offends established public policy 

and one that is immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially 

injurious to consumers.” Id. at *3 (citation and quotation marks omitted). As 

explained in detail below, the definition cited by the Second District is outdated 

and in express and direct conflict with the definition of the same statutory phrase 

used by the First and Third Districts.   

The Second District succinctly described the relevant facts and procedural 

history of the Webber case: 

Webber filed an amended complaint below seeking declaratory relief, 

an injunction, and damages based on a violation of [FDUTPA], as 

well as damages for unjust enrichment. The basis for Webber’s 

complaint was that Bactes routinely overcharges for copies of a 

patient’s medical records when the records request is made by the 

patient’s legal representative rather than by the patient directly. . . .  

 

The undisputed facts reflect that when Bactes received Webber’s 

request and those of the class members for copies of their own 

medical records (via the requesting parties’ lawyers), Bactes charged 
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$1.00 for each page after the first twenty-five pages, which is four 

times the maximum charge set forth in Florida Administrative Code 

Rule 64B8-10.003(2) for patients who request such records. Bactes 

asserted that it was authorized to charge the $1.00 rate instead of the 

twenty-five-cent rate charged to patients because the requests were 

being made by lawyers on behalf of the patients and, therefore, the 

requests were being made by “other entities” for which the $1.00 rate 

is permissible under rule 64B8-10.003(3). . . .  

 

At the hearing on the motions [for a permanent injunction and for 

partial final summary judgment], Bactes agreed to “assume that there 

is a violation” of rule 64B8-10.003.[1] But Bactes argued that as a 

question of law, such a violation did not violate FDUTPA. . . . After 

analyzing the language and the purpose of rule 64B8-10.003, the trial 

court ultimately concluded that a violation of the rule did not 

constitute an unfair method of competition or an unfair, deceptive, or 

unconscionable act or practice that violated FDUTPA. Accordingly, it 

denied Webber’s motion for permanent injunction and entered partial 

final summary judgment on the FDUTPA claim in favor of Bactes. 

 

Id. at *1-2. 

 Webber appealed the trial court’s decision and the Second District confined 

its analysis to the following question: “whether it is a violation of FDUTPA for a 

practitioner or its agent to continue to charge the ‘other entities’ rate where a 

lawyer submits a request for copies of medical records on behalf of his or her 

client, a patient, especially where the practitioner or its agent has been put on 

 
1 While this case was pending in the trial court, a factually similar case against 

another medical records company was decided in the same judicial circuit. Webber, 

2020 WL 215819, at *1. The trial court in that case determined that charging a 

patient’s lawyer the “other entities” rate of $1.00 violated rule 64B8-10.003(2). Id. 

The Second District summarily affirmed that decision and the parties later settled. 

Id. at *2 n.3.  
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notice by a ruling from the trial court that its use of the ‘other entities’ rate violates 

rule 64B8-10.003(2).”2 Id. at *2.  

 Relying on the outdated definition of “unfair practice” cited above that 

conflicts with the updated definition currently used by the First and Third Districts, 

the Second District concluded that Bactes’s conduct in charging the “other entities” 

rate when a lawyer submits a request for copies of medical records on behalf of a 

patient-client is an unfair act or practice under section 501.204(1). Id. at *3. The 

Second District reasoned the conduct was a FDUTPA violation because it was 

“offensive to public policy” and “oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially 

injurious to consumers.” Id. Accordingly, the Second District reversed the partial 

final summary judgment entered in favor of Bactes based on the use of an outdated 

definition of “unfair practice” under FDUTPA, which directly conflicts with the 

updated definition relied upon in decisions from the First and Third Districts. Id. at 

*5.  

 

 

 

 

 
2 The Second District was not asked to decide whether Bactes’s conduct of 

charging the “other entities” rate violated the rule, only whether the conduct 

constituted a FDUTPA violation. Id. at *2. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 The Second District’s decision in Webber is in express and direct conflict 

with decisions from the First and Third Districts regarding the definition of “unfair 

practice” in the conduct of trade or commerce as that phrase is used in section 

501.204(1) of FDUTPA. In Webber, the Second District relied on outdated federal 

law to define an “unfair practice” as one that “offends established public policy” 

and one that is “immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially 

injurious to consumers.” In contrast, the First and Third Districts, relying on 

current federal law, have defined an “unfair practice” as one that causes 

“substantial injury” that the consumer could not have “reasonably avoided” and is 

not outweighed by “countervailing benefits” to the consumer or to competition. 

 Rarely does a case present such a clear conflict among the district courts on 

the same question of law. This is one of those cases. The two definitions of “unfair 

practice” used by the district courts are so divergent that applying both definitions 

to the same set of facts may result in different conclusions about the outcome of 

the same case—i.e., applying one definition may result in a FDUTPA violation 

while applying the other definition may not. Accordingly, this Court can and 

should accept jurisdiction to review the Second District’s decision in Webber, 

resolve the conflict among the district courts, and clarify a uniform meaning of 

“unfair practice” under section 501.204(1).  
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ARGUMENT 

I. WEBBER EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH 

OTHER DISTRICT COURT DECISIONS REGARDING THE 

MEANING OF “UNFAIR PRACTICE” IN SECTION 501.204(1), 

FLORIDA STATUTES. 

 

A. In Webber, the Second District applied an outdated version of the 

definition of “unfair practice,” which conflicts with the current 

version of the definition relied on by the First and Third Districts. 

 One of the purposes of FDUTPA is to protect consumers and businesses 

from “those who engage in unfair methods of competition, or unconscionable, 

deceptive, or unfair acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.”      

§ 501.202(2), Fla. Stat. To that end, FDUPTA provides a private cause of action 

for a party who is aggrieved by, among other things, “[u]nfair or deceptive acts or 

practices.” § 501.204(1), Fla. Stat. The term “unfair practice” is not defined in 

FDUTPA, but instead has been construed by courts in reliance on analogous 

federal law.3 See, e.g., Samuels v. King Motor Co. of Fort Lauderdale, 782 So. 2d 

489, 499 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (relying on federal statute and case law to define 

“unfair practice”). Over the years, the definitions of “unfair practice” used by the 

district courts have diverged due to the reliance by some district courts on outdated 

federal law. This difference in approach to the definition of a statutory term has 

 
3 See § 501.204(2), Fla. Stat. (“It is the intent of the Legislature that, in construing 

subsection (1), due consideration and great weight shall be given to the 

interpretations of the Federal Trade Commission and the federal courts relating to 

s. 5(a)(1) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. s. 45(a)(1) as of July 1, 

2017.”). 
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created an express and direct conflict among the district courts, which this Court 

can and should resolve. See art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. 

 In Webber, the Second District defined an “unfair practice” as one that 

“offends established public policy” and one that is “immoral, unethical, oppressive, 

unscrupulous or substantially injurious to consumers.” 2020 WL 215819, at *3 

(quoting Rollins, Inc. v. Butland, 951 So. 2d 860, 869 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)). This 

definition was taken directly from the Fourth District’s decision in Samuels, which 

in turn relied on a 1976 decision of the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals. 782 So. 

2d at 499 (citing Spiegel, Inc. v. Fed. Trade Comm’n, 540 F.2d 287 (7th Cir. 

1976)). In Spiegel, the Seventh Circuit explained the definition of “unfair practice” 

later cited in Webber and Samuels derives from a “1964 Policy Statement” of the 

Federal Trade Commission (FTC),4 which was cited approvingly by the U.S. 

Supreme Court in 1972. See 540 F.2d at 293 n.8 (citing Fed. Trade Comm’n v. 

Terry & Hutchinson Co., 405 U.S. 233, 244 n.5 (1972)). The Fourth District 

adopted the decades-old definition from Spiegel in 2001, see Samuels, 782 So. 2d 

at 499, and it has since been relied on many times by other district courts, 

including the Second District in Webber. 

 
4 Unfair or Deceptive Advertising and Labeling of Cigarettes in Relation to the 

Health Hazards of Smoking, Statement of Basis and Purpose, 29 Fed. Reg. 8324, 

8355 (July 2, 1964). 
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 In 2014, the Third District recognized, as a matter of first impression, that 

the definition of “unfair practice” found in the FTC’s 1964 Policy Statement was 

outdated and was therefore no longer the appropriate definition to rely on when 

analyzing a FDUTPA claim under section 501.204(1). Porsche Cars N. America, 

Inc. v. Diamond, 140 So. 3d 1090, 1096-99 (Fla. 3d DCA 2014). In Porsche Cars, 

the Third District explained that the FTC updated its definition of “unfair practice” 

from the 1964 Policy Statement in 1980, and that the definition from the 1980 

Policy Statement had been adopted by federal courts and codified into federal 

statutory law. Id. at 1096-97.  

The new definition of “unfair practice” in the FTC’s 1980 Policy Statement 

established a three-pronged test for “unfairness” requiring that the injury to the 

consumer: “(1) must be substantial; (2) must not be outweighed by any 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition that the practice produces; and 

(3) must be an injury that consumers themselves could not reasonably have 

avoided.” Id. at 1096 (quoting FTC Policy Statement on Unfairness (Dec. 17, 

1980), appended to Int’l Harvester Co., 104 F.T.C. 949, 1070 (1984)). In light of 

FDUTPA’s mandate that “due consideration and great weight” be given to 

analogous federal law, § 501.204(2), the Third District applied this updated 

definition of “unfair practice” in reviewing an order certifying a FDUPTA class 

action. Porsche Cars, 140 So. 3d at 1098-1100 (concluding that when applying 
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updated definition common issues will not predominate). The Third District noted 

that some Florida courts had continued to cite to the outdated definition of “unfair 

practice,” but ultimately held that the “clear and unambiguous directive” of Florida 

statutes requires the “1980 Policy Statement’s definition of unfair trade practice 

[to] be used when interpreting FDUTPA.” Id. at 1098. 

 In 2019, the First District, like the Third District, recited the FTC’s updated 

definition of “unfair practice” in reviewing a class certification order for FDUTPA 

claims. Angelo v. Parker, 275 So. 3d 752, 755 (Fla. 1st DCA 2019). In doing so, 

the First District did not engage in the same historical analysis as in Porsche Cars, 

but instead quoted directly from a 2017 case from the Middle District of Florida. 

Id. (quoting Hill Dermaceuticals, Inc. v. Anthem, Inc., 228 F. Supp. 3d 1292, 1302 

(M.D. Fla. 2017)). Thus, according to the First District, an “unfair practice” is “one 

which causes substantial injury to a consumer which the consumer could not have 

reasonably avoided and which is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to the 

consumer or to competition.” Id. 

B. This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and 

resolve the express and direct conflict regarding the definition of 

“unfair practice.”  

 

As explained above, the Second District’s definition of “unfair practice” in 

Webber is in express and direct conflict with the definition of the same statutory 

phrase used by the Third and First Districts in Porsche Cars and Angelo. Although 
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the three cases reached their respective courts in different procedural postures 

(final summary judgment vs. class certification orders), the underlying legal 

question in each was the same—what is the meaning of “unfair practice” in section 

501.204(1) of FDUTPA? As shown in the following table, the two definitions used 

by the district courts are so divergent that applying both definitions to the same set 

of facts may result in different conclusions about the outcome of the same case—

i.e., applying one definition may result in a FDUTPA violation while applying the 

other definition may not. 

Express and Direct Conflict 

1964 Policy Statement  

(Second District, Fourth District) 

An “unfair practice” is one that “offends 

established public policy” and one that 

is “immoral, unethical, oppressive, 

unscrupulous or substantially injurious 

to consumers.” 

1980 Policy Statement 

(First District, Third District) 

An “unfair practice” is “one which [1] 

causes substantial injury to a consumer 

[2] which the consumer could not have 

reasonably avoided and [3] which is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits 

to the consumer or to competition.” 

 

The conflict between the Second District and the First and Third Districts about 

what constitutes an “unfair practice” may result in the disparate treatment of the 

parties in FDUTPA cases based solely on which court considers their claim.  
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 Compounding the possibility for disparity among the district courts is this 

Court’s 2003 decision in PNR, Inc. v. Beacon Property Management, Inc., which 

also cited to the outdated definition of “unfair practice” in dicta when holding that 

FDUTPA applies to causes of action arising from a single unfair or deceptive act. 

842 So. 2d 773, 777 (Fla. 2003) (quoting Samuels, 782 So. 2d at 499). This Court 

should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and resolve the conflict by approving 

the decisions of the First and Third Districts and receding from the dicta in Beacon 

Property, which applied the incorrect and outdated definition of “unfair practice.”  

*  *  *  *  * 

For all of these reasons, this Court can and should accept jurisdiction to 

review Webber, resolve the conflict among the district courts, and clarify a uniform 

meaning of “unfair practice” under section 501.204(1), Florida Statutes.  

CONCLUSION 

 Webber expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district 

courts on the same question of law: what is the definition of the statutory term 

“unfair practice” as used in section 501.204(1), Florida Statutes? This Court should 

exercise its discretion to review this matter and should resolve the conflict by 

approving the First and Third District’s decisions in Angelo and Porsche Cars and 

quashing the Second District’s decision in Webber.  
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